#### IN SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

LUTHER DOUGLAS,

Appellant,

v.

Case No. **SC02-1666** 

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE **FOURTH** JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR **DUVAL** COUNTY, FLORIDA

#### INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER

NADA M. CAREY

ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NUMBER **0648825** LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE SUITE 401 301 SOUTH MONROE STREET TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301 (850) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

##

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

#### <u>Guilt/Innocence Phase</u>

Mary Ann Hobgood, 18, left home around 7 p.m. on December 25, 1999. IX 380. The next day, Ms. Hobgood's body was found along the railroad tracks off Evergreen Avenue in Jacksonville. IX 392. She was lying face up, unclothed from the waist down and with the clothing on her upper body pushed up and in disarray. X 422, 467. Several feet from her body were a tire lug wrench, a rubber car part, and a maroon jacket. X 425, 442, 444.

Dr. Matthew Areford, the medical examiner, testified Ms. Hobgood had injuries to her entire body, including the head, shoulders, chest, stomach, and front of the legs. X 467. After conducting an autopsy, Dr. Areford concluded she had died of blunt head trauma. X 519. With the exception of the arm and right shoulder injuries, the injuries below the neck were sustained post-mortem and were consistent with being run over by a vehicle. X 458, 519. Dr. Areford said she received at

least ten blows to the face and seven blows to the back of her head, X 517, which "to the best of my opinion ... are all before she died ... that also includes ... the period of time around when she died." X 504-505. Some of the injuries to the head could have been inflicted by a fist but most or all more likely were inflicted by a blunt object. X 497, 504. Dr. Areford could not sequence the head injuries and testified Ms. Hobgood could have been rendered unconscious by the initial blow. X 534-535. Dr. Areford said the injuries to her hands and arms fell "within the broad classification of wounds that could be defensive wounds" but "[t]here is nothing about them that lets me say for sure that they are defensive wounds." Х 507. A semen sample collected from Ms. Hobgood's vagina was found to match Douglas's blood, using DNA analysis. XII 935. Dr. Areford found no evidence of sexual trauma and could not say whether a rape had occurred. X 520. The victim's blood alcohol was .05. The drug MDA, or Ecstasy, was present in trace amounts, though in Dr. Areford's opinion, Ms. Hobgood was not under the influence of Ecstasy when she died. X 527-529, 544.

Misty Jones, 21, testified she and Mary Ann Hobgood had been friends since childhood. Misty had been dating Luther Douglas since November 1999. X 552-553. On December 25, 1999, Misty, Mary Ann, and Luther went to several bars together.

Luther drove a red Ford Escort he had borrowed from Jimela Dozier. The car was dirty inside and out. Luther had not met Mary Ann previously. Misty identified the maroon jacket found near Ms. Hobgood's body as the jacket Luther was wearing that night. X 555-558.

Before hitting the bars, the threesome bought a bottle of rum and some soda at a liquor store, which Luther and Mary Ann drank. They then went to several pool halls and bars. Luther and Mary Ann continued to drink throughout the evening. Misty said she did not drink any alcohol that night. At some point, Misty went outside because she wasn't feeling well. Luther and Mary Ann came out about 15 minutes later. They were laughing and having a good time. Luther dropped Misty off at her house, then left in the Escort with Mary Ann. Before Luther left her house, Misty tried to talk him into letting her go with him to take Mary Ann home because "they were both drinking and I wanted to make sure she got home okay," but Luther said it would be a waste of gas since Misty and Mary Ann lived on opposite sides of town. X 559-563, 619.

Misty testified further that Luther called her at four that morning. First, he said he had left Mary Ann at a bar. Later, he said he had taken her home. When he came over the next morning, Misty noticed scratches on his neck. She called Mary Ann's house and learned Mary Ann had not come home. X 564-566.

Misty then confronted Luther, and he asked her to go for a ride because he needed to tell her something. Misty noticed the Escort was clean. During the ride, Douglas told her Mary Ann had disrespected him, and he had hit her, then pulled her in the car and beaten her. He said he threw her out of the car in the Springhill area and left her for dead. Misty asked if he beat her because she did not have sex with black boys, and he just smiled. X 568-571.

Misty admitted she lied when first questioned by police on December 27, by saying she and Mary Ann had gone out that night with Timothy Hightower. She also lied in her sworn statement to the State Attorney that day. On January 24, 2000, when confronted with the results of the investigation, she told the truth and was arrested. X 572-576. She had been in jail since her arrest on a charge of accessory after the fact to Ms. Hobgood's murder. She had pled guilty in exchange for truthful testimony regarding her friend's death and faced a sentence of 0 to 7 years. A perjury charge had been dropped as part of the plea, and if she did not testify truthfully, she could receive up to 30 years. She had three prior felony convictions and was facing a charge of violation of probation in another county. X 548-551.

On cross-examination, Misty said she had just gotten out of jail in October 1999 and was on probation when Mary Ann was

killed. She was charged with two counts of burglary of a dwelling and one count of grand theft. X 585-587. She denied she was jealous of the relationship between Luke and Mary Ann. X 590. When shown a letter from jail addressed to "Mr. Luther Douglas" from Misty Jones and postmarked February 18, 2000, Misty denied she wrote the letter and denied she had someone write it for her. XI 612-615. She denied drugging her father's wife's drink when she was fifteen, denied giving her father a sleeping pill so she could sneak out of the house, denied she had the house shot at, denied trying to hit her grandmother, denied trying to poison her grandmother, and denied slashing the tires or hitting Luke's baby's mother, Mimi. She admitted she had a temper and admitted to an explosive temper outburst with her boyfriend, Nathaniel Orem. She admitted getting into fist fights with Orem, as well as all her prior boyfriends. She admitted being the only female in the Folk Nation gang, a branch of the Crips, and admitted "jumping on" a girl as an initiation into the gang, but said she was told she would be put in the hospital if she didn't. XI 634-636, 642. She admitted telling her probation officer she drank four to five fifths of liquor a week and was addicted to cocaine and marijuana but denied using these substances the night Mary Ann was killed. XI 649.

Bradley Johnson testified Luke was living with him and his

son in December 1999. Johnson said Luke came home about 2 a.m. on December 26, 1999, and asked Mr. Bradley's son if he would like to go with him to take care of some business. Johnson told his son it was too late to go out, and Luke left. XI 658-660.

Jimela Dozier testified she and Luke had a son together, born in May 1999. Ms. Dozier owned a red Ford Escort, which she let Luke drive on occasion. Before she went to Ft. Lauderdale for Christmas, she asked Luke to check on the car. She had given her sister and brother-in-law, Timothy Hightower, permission to borrow the car while she was gone, but they called and told her the car was not there when they went to pick it up. When Jimela returned on December 26, the car was in the yard. When she talked to Luke the next morning, he said he had used the car, and a tire had blown, which he fixed. He asked her to look in the trunk, where she found a black leather jacket. He told her to look in the pockets, where she found a watch and some rings. He said the jacket was her Christmas present, which he bought from a drug user. When she visited Luke in jail after his arrest, she asked him whether he had sex with Mary Ann Hobgood, and he said he did not remember having sex with her. XI 665-678.

The black jacket, jewelry, and Ms. Dozier's Ford Escort were collected by the Sheriff's office on December 28, after

Ms. Dozier's mother called the police and told them Luther had given them to her daughter. XI 709-712. Ms. Hobgood's father identified the black jacket and jewelry as Ms. Hobgood's. IX 381. Blood found at several locations inside and underneath the Escort matched Ms. Hobgood's, using DNA analysis. XI 758-775. Blood found on the maroon jacket found at the scene as well as Ms. Hobgood's black leather jacket also matched Ms. Hobgood's blood. XII 938-939. The lug wrench had human blood on it though there was an insufficient amount to match. The rubber car part recovered near Ms. Hobgood's body matched a missing car part from the bottom of the Ford Escort.

Detective Hinson, the lead detective, said after he spoke with Misty Jones on December 27, 2000, he questioned Timothy Hightower at the police station. Hightower provided a DNA sample and consented to a search his car and residence. The car was searched and processed but Hightower was never arrested for the homicide. XIII 1015-1020. On December 28, Hinson recovered the Ford Escort, black jacket, and jewelry from the Dozier residence. XIII 1021-1022. On January 24, he interviewed Misty Jones, and she said she was with Luther Douglas the night Ms. Hobgood was killed. XIII 1029. Also on January 24, Hinson interviewed Douglas about Ms. Hobgood's death. Douglas said he had driven the Ford Escort over the Christmas holidays and the only other person who drove the car

was his sister, for about two hours. He said he got the jacket and jewelry from a baser downtown. When asked how blood got inside the car, he said a friend of his, Eric Ranson, had gotten in a fight at a nightclub, and he had driven him to the hospital. Initially, he said he was out with Misty Jones on December 25, and when shown a photograph of Ms. Hobgood, he said he did not know her. Later, towards the end of the interview, he said Misty had a female friend with her but he did not remember her name. He said he became ill and remembered taking Misty home but did not remember taking the other woman home. He said he was extremely intoxicated. XIII 1029-1043, 1066.

The state introduced into evidence jail records showing Eric Ranson was incarcerated in the Duval County Jail from March 25, 1999, to January 6, 2001. XIII 1080.

Thomas Brown testified he previously was convicted of a felony and had met Luther in the Duval County Jail in August 2000. While housed in the jail together, Brown and Luther had several conversations about the charges Luther was facing. Brown agreed to testify about what Luther had told him in the hopes of getting a lighter sentence. After he agreed to testify, the prosecutor reduced the previous plea offer from 18 months to 13 months. Brown testified that Luther told him in the first conversation he had run over the girl because she

wouldn't move. In the second conversation, he said he had beaten her to death and ran over her to make it look like vehicular homicide, which would result in a lesser sentence. He also said he "took the p----," which Brown took to mean he raped her. XII 988-995.

#### Penalty Phase

At the penalty phase, twelve witnesses testified on Douglas's behalf.

Until age 9 or 10, Luke lived with his mother, Sheryl, his father, "Big Luke," his sisters, Lawanta and Lavonia, and his younger brother, David. "Big Luke" was a rigid authoritarian, who controlled and terrorized his wife and children with physical and emotional abuse and bizarrely cruel disciplinary techniques. When Luke was 9 or 10, it became known that Big Luke had been sexually molesting Lawanta for seven years, from the age of 7 to 14, and Big Luke left the household for good.

Luke's mother, Sheryl McKeever, described her ex-husband as a perfectionist who seldom interacted with his children except to punish them---"He was hard and he was cruel." He never hugged, kissed, or told the children he loved them. He beat them with belts and used an abusive form of punishment, the "air stool"---where the children had to stand as if sitting on a chair. They had to continue doing this after their backs ached and they cried in pain. Sheryl testified she could not

help them or she would get beaten herself. She described herself as "a punching bag" and said her husband would come in from the streets and pull her out of bed and start beating her with his fists. XVI 1396-1398.

The violence and abuse was perpetrated largely behind closed doors. As Sheryl testified, "Luther was taught, as we all were, things going on in the household you don't tell, was kept a secret, you don't let other people know your business." SVI 1395. On one occasion, abuse was reported, and charges were filed against the father for a beating inflicted on Luther, which left belt marks on his back, buttocks, and arms. According to Sheryl, the judge just told Big Luke to beat him on the buttocks next time. XVI 1398.

Sheryl's brother, Roy Smith, testified their were lots of secretive things going on as far as the father being abusive. His sister and her husband got into an altercation one night where Big Luke kicked Sheryl in the stomach. She was pregnant with Luke at the time. She called Roy, crying, to come and get her, and he told her he'd meet her halfway. Before he reached her, Big Luke drove by and pulled her into the car and took off for the hospital. Roy also suspected that things were going on with Lawanta. When he went to the house to find out exactly what was going on, Big Luke pulled a gun on him. XVI 1381.

Other than these incidents, family and friends did not know

what was going on inside the house, though they suspected things "were not right." No one was permitted to come inside the house when Big Luke was home. Sheryl's sister, Janice, testified that Sheryl had to "sneak around" to bring the children to visit so her husband wouldn't know. Big Luke did not come to family gatherings and when she interacted with him, he was cold and unpleasant to be around. XVI 1284.

Sandra Wright, a family friend and Lawanta's counselor after the sexual abuse was revealed, worked with Sheryl at a church day care. Ms. Wright said Sheryl took the children with her everywhere she went and she saw them five days a week until Luther was a pre-teen. As a child, Luther was very quiet and docile, very giving. Ms. Wright said all the children were so mannerable, it was "unnatural," that they were like "robots." If you told them to sit down and not talk for an hour, they would sit and not do anything, not even move. They were never dirty, never wrestling around, never doing the things kids normally do. They were "too perfect." Anything she asked Luther to do, anything any adult asked him to do, he did it. Luke was a follower, very docile, he never talked back. The children seemed afraid of their father. Sheryl was afraid of him, too, and afraid to say what was going on inside the house. Sheryl was as scared and disciplined as the children. She had to bathe the children and get the house in order before he got

home, like she was on a time clock. She did this to protect the kids. Sheryl and the children ate pork and beans, while Big Luke ate steak. XVI 1313-1319.

The Douglas apartment also was "too perfect." No one was allowed inside, no one was allowed farther than the front door when the father was home. He did not allow visitors. From the door, Ms. Wright observed the four children sitting cramped up on an old, raggedly sofa watching television quietly, not saying a word, while Mr. Douglas sat on a brand new sofa. The mother and children seemed to have strict time limits, they had to get everything done before the father came home. The children did not play outside, they were always at home. XVI 1315-1316.

Other relatives testifed Luke was a quiet, good natured child. His aunt, Janice Williams, saw him several times a month when he was a child. Luke was very polite. All the children were real good, especially Luke. Luke was a sweet child, very pleasant, very respectful, close to his mother. XVI 1277.

Lavonia and James Douglas testified their father was physically and emotionally abusive. Lavonia remembered seeing fighting in the home. XVI 1370. James said he always looked up to Luke and still does. Luke "a lot of times got into trouble for me." They were all afraid of their father and

lived "on eggshells," having to watch everything they did and said. Luther got the "air stool" more than anyone, and Luke took a lot of spankings for James. Their father as very controlling, "my way or no way." The children had no rights. XVI 1349-1352.

After the sexual abuse came out, Ms. Wright worked with Sheryl and Lawanta, but Luther received no counseling. XVI 1320. Although the the physical and verbal abuse stopped, the family was broken up. Sheryl testified it was very hard for the children when their father left. Luke looked up to his father and was doing reasonably well before this happened. After his father left, Luke changed. Luke was angry and he didn't understand. XVI 1400. According to Ms. Wright, there was no order after the father left. The children did whatever they wanted. Luke "was a time bomb waiting to go off." XVI 1321-1322. Lavonia testified the effect of discovering their father was abusing Lawanta "was crazy for us." They didn't understand what it was or why their father had to leave for it. XVI 1391. David said they had more liberty to be themselves, "it was like the walls were torn down," but there was a scar because "every young man wants a relationship with his father." XVI 1355. According to Roy Smith, the revelation of the sexual abuse "devastated" the entire family, especially Luke because of the special bond he and Lawanta had and his inability to

understand why this had happened. That was the start of his downfall. There was no contact with the father after that, although the father was picking up young girls on Market Street and telling them his name was John and taking them to motels. Lawanta did not know how to explain what had happened to Luke and he couldn't understand why it could happen. XVI 1384-1386.

Sheryl testified Luke stayed with her for a little while after his father left but then he got in the streets and into drugs. He would run away from home and cut class. He would sell drugs to buy a pair of shoes. Then he went and lived with Lawanta for a time. XVI 1401.

According to Sheryl, Luke had learning disabilities, especially a reading disability, for which he was placed in special programs in school. He also had trouble with math. One of his teachers tried to help him but "he was discouraged, because inside of him, you know, he had a secret he couldn't tell." He dropped out of school in the 7th grade. XVI 1402-1404. Douglas, Luke's brother, also testified Luke had poor reading and writing skills, and that he consequently was frustrated about employment. XVI 1357-1358.

Charlie McLoud, Lawanta's husband, testified he had known Luke since Luke was in the 7th grade. Luke had lived with him and Lawanta off and on for six or seven years. Mr. McLoud said

Luke's children were often at family cookouts, and Luke enjoyed spending time with his his children and loved and cared for them very much. He talked about them a lot and had great things planned for them. He wanted them to avoid some of the things he had gotten into and talked about them going to college. Luke worked with Mr. McLoud at Captain D's, Long John Silver's, Apperson Chemicals, and other places. He was an extremely good worker and did whatever he was asked to do. He also helped out around the house and with yard work. He was passionate about drawing and talented. They were a churchgoing family, and Douglas went, too, about once a month and on special occasions. XVI 1262-1274.

Laverne Montgomery, who was married to Luke's sister, Lavonia, said he had known Luke for about four years and saw him a couple of times a month. They were a very loving family. Luke was a "kindhearted man," a loving, sweet person, and they often laughed and talked together. Laverne said Luke got jobs easily, he was very outgoing, and loved to joke around and have fun. He was always talking about his children, what he wanted to do with them, even now. Luke had been a good son and a good brother. XVI 1325-1327.

Joyce Douglas, who was married to Luke's brother, James, said she had known Luke since 1993. He was an outgoing, positive person. He liked to laugh and joke and have a good

time. He was kind and easy to get along with. He was a good listener and patient. Luke was very close to his brother and sisters. He loved his father, too, but never had a relationship with him. Joyce had visited Luke since he'd been in jail every couple of weeks. Since he'd been in jail, he had become more focused and gotten closer to God. XVI 1299-1303.

Tammy Wright, a friend (and no relation to Sandra Wright), said she had known Luke since age 17. She lived with Luke and Lawanta for about six months in 1998, and Luke was like a brother to her. He cared deeply about his children, and his children were often at the house. He was a good father: he interacted with them and was committed to them. He wanted to get his high school diploma. He was supportive, always honest, funny, positive, passionate, and had helped her through some hard times. Luke was always there for her. XVI 1291-1298.

Matthew McKever, Luke's stepfather, said he had been married to Luke's mother for seven years. Luke lived with them every now and then during those years. He helped with the bills and household chores and did everything he was asked to do. Mr. McKever would ask Luke to mow the lawn or rake the leaves, "and when I got home, it's done." Luke would get up and cook him and his wife breakfast and bring it to their bed. Luke had a close, loving relationship with his mother. He had never seen Luke with his father but had heard he was very

abusive, that he beat his kids, and once had dropped Luke down the stairs. Mr. McKever tried to be a father figure to Luke but he was already an adult by then. XVI 1334-1340. Lavonia said after their dad left, their mother wouldn't let them have a close relationship with anybody she dated, so their father was the only role model they had. XVI 1375.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

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