## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

LUTHER DOUGLAS,

v.

Appellant,

CASE NO. SCO2-1666

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

\_\_\_\_\_/

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, FLORIDA

### ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

CURTIS M. FRENCH SENIOR ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 291692

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

##

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

### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Douglas raises five issues:

1. The admission of photographic evidence is within the trial court's discretion. There was no abuse of discretion in this case. The one crime-scene photograph of the victim showed her in the condition that Douglas had left her. The autopsy photographs assisted the medical examiner in explaining the injuries to the victim. The number of photographs are a consequence of the numerous injuries inflicted by Douglas. Douglas argues for the first time on appeal that some of these autopsy photographs should have been excluded because they showed primarily injuries inflicted after the victim's death, when Douglas ran over her with his car. This argument is procedurally barred for failure to preserve it below. It is also meritless. It was important to the medical examiners' conclusions about the cause of death to differentiate between the pre-mortem and post-mortem injuries. Further, the postmortem injuries identified Douglas as the assailant, because they explained why the underside of the car he was driving had the victim's blood on it and corroborated the testimony of inmate Thomas Brown about statements made by Douglas indicating that he had run over the victim with his car to avoid arrest for murder.

2. The trial court considered, analyzed and addressed all of Douglas' proposed mitigation. The trial court was, if anything, overly generous in finding and assigning weight to mitigation, given the lack of any expert testimony about why or how the shortcomings of Douglas' biological father, who left home when Douglas was nine or ten, might have contributed to this brutal murder. Douglas in fact had what was universally described as a loving and close knit family. There is no credible evidence in this case that Douglas has any intellectual shortcomings, and no evidence at all that he suffers from any sort of mental or personality disorders. Although Douglas was described as positive, upbeat, outgoing and friendly, the trial court was authorized to concluded that the facts of this crime belie this description. The trial court was also authorized to conclude that the evidence utterly failed to show that Douglas was a good father who loved and took care of his children. Finally, the court was authorized to conclude that there was no sufficient evidence in this case to establish that Douglas was impaired by alcohol on the night of the murder. The evidence showed no more than that Douglas had been drinking that night; it failed to show that he had drunk enough to have become intoxicated.

3. The victim in this case was savagely beaten to death with a rock and an automobile lug wrench. She suffered multiple skull fractures, a broken nose, a broken jaw, broken teeth, a broken clavicle, and numerous lacerations and bruises. She was so battered as to be unrecognizable. Her injuries were so numerous and extensive that an accurate determination of the total number of blows cannot be calculated, but she was struck a minimum of 24-27 times. Multiple defensive wounds on her hands and arms, as well as the fact that she suffered injuries on all sides of her head, demonstrate that she struggled against her assailant, trying to fend off and to avoid the many blows being rained down upon her. The trial court properly found this murder to be heinous, atrocious and cruel.

4. Death is a proportionate sentence for this horribly brutal rape/murder.

5. Florida's capital sentencing procedures are not unconstitutional for any reason alleged.

- 33 -

#### ARGUMENT

Ι

# THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY ADMITTED PHOTOGRAPHS OF THE VICTIM TO DEMONSTRATE HOW SHE APPEARED AT THE SCENE AND TO ILLUSTRATE THE NATURE AND EXTENT OF HER INJURIES

Douglas first complains about the introduction of a crimescene photograph of the victim (State's Exhibit 1) and thirteen autopsy photographs (State's Exhibits 21-33). Douglas argues that, because "the nature of the victim's injuries was not an issue in dispute at trial," and the photographs were "extremely gruesome," their probative value was outweighed by their prejudicial effect and the trial court abused its discretion in admitting them. Initial Brief of Appellant at 19.

As Douglas concedes, the admission of photographic evidence is within the trial court's discretion, and a ruling on this issue will not be disturbed on appeal absent a clear showing of abuse. <u>Gudinas v. State</u>, 693 So.2d 953 (Fla.1997); <u>Pangburn v.</u> <u>State</u>, 661 So.2d 1182, 1187 (Fla.1995). There was no abuse of discretion in this case.

It is well settled that photographs which demonstrate the condition of the crime scene when police arrive are properly admitted over an objection that they are inflammatory. <u>Looney</u> <u>v. State</u>, 803 So.2d 656, 669 (Fla. 2001). The (lone) crime-scene photograph introduced in this case (State's exhibit 1)

- 34 -

depicts Mary Ann Hobgood's body as Douglas had left it, lying face up next to some brush, nude from the chest area down and massively injured. This photograph was highly relevant to the nature of the crime and the identity of the victim, and Douglas has identified no "unusual circumstances" in this case that would preclude its admission in evidence.<sup>12</sup>

As for the autopsy photographs, it bears noting the State proffered nowhere near all the autopsy photographs in its possession; instead, the prosecutor culled through them and picked out those showing distinct injuries (10R 483). The trial court reviewed the photographs and, noting that Douglas had "raised the defense that Misty Jones committed this homicide," which, in the court's view, "factor[ed] in the 403 analysis here," found that the photographs were not "unduly prejudicial" and would assist the medical examiner in explaining wounds found on a murder victim (10R 483-84).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> In <u>Czubak v. State</u>, 570 So.2d 925 (Fla. 1990), the victim's body had not been discovered until it unrecognizable due to decomposition and having been ravaged (and probably moved at least to some extent) by animals; the photographs did not show any wounds and, because the condition and location of the body were "caused by factors apart from the crime itself," they were not probative of the cause of death or identity. This Court acknowledged that crime scene photographs were generally admissible even if gruesome, but held that under the "unusual circumstances presented" <u>id</u>. at 929, the probative value of the photographs was "at best extremely limited," and they should not have been admitted.

The record shows that Dr. Areford used these photographs to explain the injuries to Mary Ann Hobgood, how those injuries had been inflicted and how much force had been used, and to differentiate for the jury which injuries were pre-mortem and which post-mortem (88T 4420-21, 4443-44, 4428-29, 4417-20). The trial court did not abuse its discretion in admitting these photographs, gruesome though some of them may have been. This court has "consistently upheld the admission of allegedly gruesome photographs where they were independently relevant or corroborative of other evidence." Czubak v. State, supra, 570 So.2d at 928-29. Accord, e.g., Dennis v. State, 817 So.2d 741, 763 (Fla. 2002)(emphasizing that the "test for admissibility is relevance, not necessity, " quoting Mansfield v. State, 758 So.2d King v. State, 623 636, 648 (Fla. 2000)); So.2d 486 (Fla.1993)(test of admissibility of photographs is relevance, and they are admissible "where they assist the medical examiner in explaining to the jury the nature and manner in which the wounds were inflicted," quoting Bush v. State, 461 So.2d 936, 939 (Fla. 1984)); <u>Varqas v. State</u>, 751 So.2d 665, (Fla. 3rd DCA 2000) ("Almost any photograph of a homicide victim is gruesome. But the medical examiner used the photographs during his testimony to illustrate the nature of the wounds and the element of premeditation for the first degree murder charges. Because

the photographs were relevant to the medical examiner's testimony, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in admitting them."); Lott v. State, 695 So.2d 1239 (Fla.1997) (no abuse of discretion where admitted photographs were probative of the premeditated murder charge); <u>Gudinas v. State</u>, supra (pictures were necessary to explain location and extent of wounds); Sanchez-Basulto v. State, 601 So.2d 1263 (Fla. 3d DCA 1992) (admittance of photographs was probative of the nature of the victim's wounds, type of weapon used, and cause of victim's Douglas contends that even if death). some of the photographs were properly admitted, it was error to have admitted photographs depicting damage done to the victim's body after her death, citing Looney v. State, supra. Douglas did not make this objection at trial, however, so it is not preserved for review. F.B. v. State, no. SC02-1156, Fla., decided July 11, 2003 ("In general, to raise a claimed error on appeal, a litigant must object at trial when the alleged error occurs. [Cit.] Furthermore, in order for an argument to be cognizable on appeal, it must be the specific contention asserted as legal

ground for the objection, exception, or motion below. [Cit.]").13

Even if the issue had been preserved, however, the trial court would have committed no abuse of discretion by admitting these photographs. It was important to the medical examiner's conclusions about the nature of the attack and the cause of death to differentiate between the pre-mortem and post-mortem Moreover, the post-mortem injuries (which, in Dr. injury. Areford's opinion were consistent with someone having run over her with a car) were independently relevant (a) to identify Douglas as the assailant, by explaining how the victim's blood ended up on the underside of the Ford Escort that Douglas had driven the night of the murder, and (b) to corroborate Thomas Brown's testimony that Douglas admitted that he had run over the victim with his car after killing her in the belief that he could make it look like she had been the victim of a vehicular homicide rather than the more serious crime of murder. See Thomas v. State, 748 So.2d 970, 982 (Fla. 1999) ("concealment"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Douglas' trial counsel did not object to any specific autopsy photo; his objection was directed to *all* of them on the ground that, because Dr. Areford could "testify to all these injuries verbally without having to introduce photographs" the photographs should be excluded, despite their relevance, because they were gruesome(10R 482-83). There was no objection that specific photographs were irrelevant because they showed only post-mortem injuries.

or other actions taken after crime which indicate desire to evade prosecution admissible to show consciousness of guilt).<sup>14</sup>

Even if the trial court abused its discretion as to one or more of the photographs, any error was harmless given the totality of the evidence in this case. <u>Looney</u>, <u>supra</u> at 670-71; <u>Thompson v. State</u>, 610 So.2d 261 (Fla. 1993).

II

# THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY REVIEWED AND WEIGHED MITIGATING CIRCUMSTANCES PROPOSED BY THE DEFENDANT

Douglas contends the trial court abused its discretion by rejecting some of Douglas' proffered mitigating circumstances, and by failing to give sufficient weight to others. Specifically, Douglas argues that the trial court failed to give

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Hence, the cases Douglas cites are inapposite, because they involve photographs which were not relevant. Pottgen v. State, 589 So.2d 390 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 1991) (which Douglas erroneously cites as a case from this Court), is not a murder case, but involves a conviction for disturbing the contents of a grave; the district court found a gruesome videotape of the body not to have been relevant because neither the identity of the body nor the method of its disposal was relevant to the crime charged. <u>Ruiz v. State</u>, 743 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1999), was a case primarily about improper prosecutorial argument and other serious prosecutorial misconduct; it tangentially involved one photograph submitted at the penalty phase by the State without any explanation or justification and no discernible purpose other than simply to inflame the jury. Finally, in Rosa v. State, 412 So.2d 891 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1982), the district court concluded that photographs of the deceased showing the results of emergency surgery, including protruding surgical tubes and sutures, should not have been admitted because they were irrelevant.

enough weight to his abusive childhood, and that the court erroneously rejected the proffered mitigating circumstances "that Douglas loves his children; is a good father to his children; supports his children by buying food, diapers, and other items for them; is a positive, upbeat person; has an outgoing, friendly personality; and has always been respectful of his elders" (Initial Brief of Appellant at 23); that Douglas "was a good son and a good brother" (Initial Brief of Appellant at 26); that Douglas had "worked at a variety of jobs" (Initial Brief of Appellant at 27); that Douglas "was impaired by alcohol at the time of the crime" (Initial Brief of Appellant at 27-28); and that Douglas had no "relationship with his father" after the "removal of the father from the home" (Initial Brief of Appellant at 27).

Ιt is clear that the trial court fully considered, thoughtfully analyzed, and expressly evaluated in its written each sentencing order of Douglas' proffered mitigating In conducting this evaluation, the trial court circumstances. is not required to find every proposed mitigator; instead, the trial court must "determine whether [the proffered mitigator] is supported by the evidence and whether, in the case of nonstatutory factors, it is truly of a mitigating nature." <u>Campbell v. State</u>, 571 So.2d 415, 419 (Fla. 1990). There are

- 40 -

"no hard and fast rules about what must be found in mitigation in any particular case . . . Because each case is unique, determining what evidence might mitigate each individual's sentence must remain with the trial court's discretion." Lucas v. State, 568 So.2d 18 (Fla. 1990). Nor must a trial court assign any particular amount of weight to a mitigator it has found. The relative weight given to each mitigating factor is within the discretion of the trial court. Campbell. In fact, "there are circumstances where a mitigating circumstance may be found to be supported by the record, but given no weight." Trease v. State, 768 So.2d 1050, 1055 (Fla. 2000) (emphasis supplied). So long as the trial court conducts a "thoughtful and comprehensive analysis," Walker v. State, 707 So.2d 300, 319 (Fla. 1997), of the defendant's proffered mitigators, the trial court's "determination of lack of mitigation will stand absent a palpable abuse of discretion." Foster v. State, 654 So.2d 112 (Fla. 1995). Accord, e.q., Bonifay v. State, 680 So.2d 413 (Fla. 1996) (decision as to whether a mitigating circumstance has been established, and the weight to be given to it if is established, are matters within the trial court's discretion); Wyatt v. State, 641 So.2d 355 (Fla. 1994) (decision whether any mitigating circumstances had been established was within trial court's discretion); Arbelaez v. State, 626 So.2d 169 (Fla.

- 41 -

1993) (trial court has broad discretion in determining applicability of mitigating circumstances).<sup>15</sup>

Douglas argues that the trial court should have accepted and weighed *all* of his 30-some-odd proposed mitigators. Initially, the State would note that Douglas has, in essence, really

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